STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr.

---

Case No.: 2019-000957

---

**RECEIVED**

**Sep 24 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

vs.

Louis Neal "Skip" ReVille,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
(Including repaginated Reply to Initial Brief of Respondent)

---

TOMMY A. THOMAS  
Bar No.: 005536  
Post Office Box 88  
Irmo, SC 29063  
(803) 732-5507

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The circuit court abused its discretion by improperly sentencing Appellant and then denying Appellant's motion for reconsideration of sentencing, thus denying Appellant an effective opportunity to enter the Sexually Violent Predator Program.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about October 29, 2011, Mr. ReVille (“Appellant”) turned himself in to the Mount Pleasant Police Department after becoming aware of allegations of inappropriate conduct with minor boys. He was indicted on or about April 2, 2012 for the counts listed below with their respective sentences, as well as some others that were dismissed. These charges arose in Dorchester, Berkeley, and Charleston Counties. On June 13, 2012, Appellant pleaded guilty to all counts before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. in the Charleston County Courthouse.<sup>1</sup> He was represented by V. Craig Jones, Jr., Esquire, and the State was represented by Scarlett Wilson, Esquire and Debbie Herring-Lash, Esquire of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor’s Office and Meghan Hall, Esquire of the First Circuit Solicitor’s Office. Judge Dennis sentenced Appellant to a total of fifty years’ imprisonment, specifically:

• 2012-GS-10-01835	CSC with a minor, 2 <sup>nd</sup>	twenty years
• 2012-GS-10-01833	CSC with a minor, 2 <sup>nd</sup>	twenty years
• 2012-GS-10-01921	Lewd Act with a minor	fifteen years
• 2012-GS-10-01847	CSC with a minor, 2 <sup>nd</sup>	twenty years
• 2012-GS-10-01923	Lewd Act with a minor	fifteen years
• 2012-GS-10-02045	Lewd Act with a minor	fifteen years
• 2012-GS-10-01846	CSC with a minor, 2 <sup>nd</sup>	twenty years
• 2012-GS-10-01927	Dissemination of Obscene Mat. to a minor	ten years
• 2012-GS-10-01977	Dissemination of Obscene Mat. to a minor	ten years
• 2012-GS-10-01978	Lewd Act with a minor	fifteen years
• 2012-GS-08-0353	CSC with a minor, 2 <sup>nd</sup>	twenty years
• 2012-GS-08-0356	CSC with a minor, 2 <sup>nd</sup>	twenty years
• 2012-GS-08-0361	Dissemination of Obscene Mat. to a minor	ten years
• 2012-GS-18-0425	Lewd act with a minor under 16	fifteen years
• 2012-GS-18-0426	Criminal Solicitation of a Minor	ten years
• 2012-GS-18-0427	Criminal Solicitation of a Minor	ten years
• 2012-GS-18-0430	Lewd act with a minor under 16	fifteen years
• 2012-GS-18-0433	CSC with a minor, 2 <sup>nd</sup>	
• 2012-GS-18-0437	Dissemination of Obscene Mat. to a minor	ten years
• 2012-GS-18-0438	Criminal Solicitation of a Minor	ten years

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant waived the right to have the charges heard in their respective counties.

Judge Dennis defined the controlling sentences as those for 12-GS-18-0436, criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, with the sexual battery being fellatio, carrying a sentence of fifty years. He noted that it “probably will be interrupted, that community supervision, by the Sexually Violent Predator proceeding...” Tr. p.129, lines 11-23. He also stated that 12-GS-18-0042,<sup>2</sup> lewd act on a minor, would carry a sentence of fifteen years, be suspended in its entirety, and carry probation of five years, consecutive to the CSC 1<sup>st</sup> sentence.

On June 22, 2012, Appellant filed a motion for reconsideration of sentencing. This remained pending for years and was followed by a request for hearing on the same dated April 30, 2018. The State filed a return to the motion on May 29, 2019, and Appellant filed a reply on June 26, 2019. A hearing was held on June 29, 2019, and an order denying relief filed on July 5, 2019.

Notice of this appeal was filed June 7, 2019 and this initial brief follows.

---

<sup>2</sup> Due to the volume of charges, Appellant believes that the indictment numbers were confused; however, he acknowledges that he pleaded guilty to at least one count of lewd act on a minor, for which this sentence is controlling.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

These charges stem from a series of incidents that transpired between Appellant and underaged males in the lowcountry between 2001 and 2011. They came to light on October 28, 2011, when the Mount Pleasant Police Department was contacted by the Lowcountry Children's Center regarding a parent making an appointment for her child due to his allegation of sexual assault by Appellant. By that date, Appellant had also sent an email to several parents describing vague acts he committed during his tenure as a camp counselor, coach, and church member in several capacities. This email was sent on October 27, 2011, the same evening a meeting was scheduled between parents who had concerns regarding Appellant.

The details of the activities between Appellant and the boys are provided in the plea transcript but range from his providing pornography and encouraging masturbation to performing and receiving oral sex. (R. p.32 – 44) These activities were framed by Appellant as a way for the boys to be “cooler,” to join a sort of fraternity or brotherhood. Multiple victim impact statements by the victims and their parents were read, and one victim spoke live in the courtroom. The plea court also heard from William H. Burke, LPC, who had evaluated Appellant and his propensities, including opining that he believed Appellant would qualify for and benefit from the Sexually Violent Predator Act's (“SCP”) accommodations. (R. p.101, lines 15-23)

Throughout the hearing, Judge Dennis referenced SVP and what it could mean for Appellant and his sentence. For instance, he referenced SVP as civil incarceration, noting that it could occur after his criminal incarceration ended. (R. p.46, lines 4-14) He also questioned Mr. Burke about the safety of predators in the community as they age, alluding that SVP and release would be possible for Appellant. (R. p. 102, lines 1-12) Throughout his pronouncement of the sentence, Judge Dennis referenced the Sexually Violent Predator Act, stating that “it's a great program” and “protects everybody in this room.” (R. p. 125, lines 4-6) He stated that he “doubt[ed]

very seriously...this won't happen in this case" while describing how he intentionally did not give Appellant a life sentence so that he can address his issues. (R. p.125, line 25 to p.126, line 9) Judge Dennis went so far as to emphasize that this treatment program is started too late – "It needs to be started early on. To put people in jail and let them sit for years and years and vegetate and then put them in the treatment program, we've lost time." (R. p.126, lines 10-13.)

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A judge must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for a particular defendant. A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010) (citations omitted).

## ARGUMENT

**The circuit court abused its discretion by improperly sentencing Appellant and then denying Appellant's motion for reconsideration of sentencing, thus denying Appellant an effective opportunity to enter the Sexually Violent Predator Program.**

In 1998, the South Carolina General Assembly created the Sexually Violent Predator Treatment Program through passage of the Sexually Violent Predator Act, S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-10, *et seq.* The purposes of this Act and Program were to provide for “long-term care, control, and treatment” through involuntary civil commitment of “a mentally abnormal and extremely dangerous group of sexually violent predators.” In outlining this act, the legislature identified the predators as defined by the crimes of which they were found guilty. This was delineated in §44-48-30 (2) (a) through (p). Of these, Appellant pleaded guilty to three: criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree, and criminal solicitation of a minor. These facts are not in dispute.

During the entry of Appellant's guilty plea, the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. repeatedly mentioned the existence and benefits of the Sexually Violent Predator Treatment Program. Most tellingly, he stated, “It needs to be started early on. To put people in jail and let them sit for years and years and vegetate and then put them in the treatment program, we've lost time.” (R. p.126, lines 10-13) The considerations of the benefits of SVP treatment were clearly on his mind, despite sentencing Appellant to fifty years. At release, he will be 74 years old. It is unlikely that, despite being convicted of three sexually violent crimes, he would be considered likely to reoffend. Any hope at rehabilitation would have been lost. It is clear Judge Dennis lost sight of this goal of punishment.

It is well-established that, under the United States' system of jurisprudence and laws, there are several known purposes for punishment. The four most often-cited goals are retribution,

rehabilitation, deterrence, and prevention. 24 C.J.S. Criminal Law § 1460 (1989). In sentencing, “the court should consider these various goals of punishment.” Id. (cited by State v. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 389, 550 S.E.2d 915, 923 (Ct. App. 2001)). “The goals of sentencing are to reflect the seriousness of the offense, promote respect for the law, provide appropriate punishment, deter criminal conduct, protect the public from the defendants criminal conduct, and provide the defendant with needed care or treatment.” State v. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 387, 550 S.E.2d 915, 922 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing United States v. Gomez-Villa, 59 F.3d 1199 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995)). In this case, Appellant is fully aware that retribution and penance are the reason for the majority of his sentence; however, he also believes that the plea court intended rehabilitation to play a significant part. By sentencing him to such a long sentence in the Department of Corrections, Appellant is unable to gain the help he needs to be rehabilitated.

Appellant’s argument is the opposite of many who seek relief related to the SVP program. For instance, In re Treatment & Care of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338 (2002) is a prime example of someone who attempted (very creatively) to evade the SVP program or being labeled a sexual offender. In Luckabaugh, he argued that SVP status should be determined at the beginning of a sentence so as to prevent forcible detention between the end of a prison term and the beginning of civil commitment. Id., 351 S.C. at 144, 568 S.E.2d at 349. Our Supreme Court disagreed with this assertion, in part because it did not violate due process, and also because it would change the number of people deemed SVPs – inmates, it held, benefitted from mental health counseling and other services during their incarceration. By participating in these, there was a chance for them not to be deemed violent and in need of SVP commitment at the end of their imprisonment. Id., 351 S.C. at 145, 568 S.E.2d at 350.

This time has passed for Appellant. He has been incarcerated for nearly eight years and has participated in every service offered to him through the Department of Corrections. He has worked with therapy dogs and taken college classes. He is a member of the Inmate Representative Committee. He has cooperated with civil suits that arose from his actions. He has never argued his guilt. But he is still in need of help. He has written treatises on how he groomed and chose his victims. He has analyzed psychological needs in both himself and young boys, then disseminated this information to professionals. While it is apparent that he is a very smart individual, it is also apparent that he is in need of serious help. At the plea hearing, Mr. Burke testified that Appellant would benefit from SVP treatment. (R. p.101, lines 15-23)

Additionally, Appellant was evaluated in 2017 by Dr. E. Selman Watson, a clinical and forensic psychologist. Dr. Watson noted that Appellant “has spent hundreds of hours in careful introspection, exploring his cycle of abuse, examining grooming techniques, and the cognitive distortions that allowed his offending to move forward.” (R. p.170) Importantly, he found that Appellant “is in need of long-term treatment for his sex offending” and “should immediately enter the SVP program” if admitted. (R. p.171) This would allow the “highly motivated” and “extremely remorseful” Appellant to “make better use of his time in the absence of similar programming within the South Carolina Department of Corrections.” (R. p.171)

By sentencing Appellant to fifty years’ imprisonment, the goal of rehabilitation was completely lost by the plea court which abused its discretion in issuing this cruel sentence. A reduction in sentence would serve all goals of punishment, as Appellant would be provide retribution by the time served, serve as a deterrent and preventative example to others in similar situations and, importantly, be able to receive rehabilitation he deserves. Appellant’s offenses began at a young age and his treatment will be long and intense. Transfer to the Department of

Mental Health and the Sexually Violent Predator Treatment Program are not an easy way out for Appellant as he will not leave custody any time soon. However, it will allow him a semblance of a chance at life years and decades down the road. Appellant's sentence must be reduced so that he may experience a chance at meaningful treatment and rehabilitation through the Sexually Violent Predator Treatment Program.



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr.

**RECEIVED**  
**Sep 24 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

Case No.: 2019-000957

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

vs.

Louis Neal "Skip" ReVille,

Appellant.