**RECEIVED**

**Nov 06 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Berkeley, Charleston, and Dorchester Counties  
Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2019-000957

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

LOUIS NEAL REVILLE,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
OT Wallace Building  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

## ARGUMENT

**The plea judge did not abuse his discretion or otherwise err by sentencing Appellant to an aggregate term of imprisonment that fell well below the maximum potential sentence authorized by law after Appellant was convicted of numerous sexual offenses—including first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor—involving twenty-two separate and distinct juvenile victims because the aggregate sentence imposed fell within the permissible sentencing limits for Appellant’s many terrible crimes and nothing was presented suggesting it was unconstitutional in any manner or resulted from any partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive.**

Appellant contends the plea judge abused his discretion by imposing an aggregate fifty-year term of imprisonment upon him after he was convicted of twenty-two separate sexual offenses involving twenty-two distinct juvenile victims.<sup>6</sup> In raising that particular contention, Appellant does *not* argue his aggregate sentence fell outside the permissible sentencing limits for his many, many crimes. Likewise, Appellant does *not* expressly contend his sentence was unconstitutional in any manner.<sup>7</sup> Furthermore, Appellant does *not* maintain the plea judge

---

<sup>6</sup> Notably, the plea judge actually imposed an aggregate sixty-five-year term of imprisonment while suspending fifteen of those years to a five-year term of probation. (R. pp. 126-130; Supp. R. p. 1).

<sup>7</sup> Although Appellant does not expressly argue his aggregate sentence was unconstitutional, he does at a single point in his appellate brief characterize the sentence as a “cruel” one. (App. Br. p. 12). To the extent such a characterization could be construed as an argument his sentence violated the constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment, that argument is far too conclusory to have properly raised a constitutional challenge to his sentence for appellate review. See State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 58, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001) (finding an argument to be abandoned where it raised in a conclusory manner); Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691-692 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding an argument raised on appeal in a conclusory fashion without citation to authority was abandoned for appellate purposes and noting “South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review”). Moreover, Appellant never argued to the plea judge the sentence imposed was unconstitutional and, therefore, is precluded from doing so for the first time on appeal. See In re Care & Treatment of Corley, 365 S.C. 252, 258, 616 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Constitutional issues, like most others, must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appeal.”); see also State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”). However, even assuming a constitutional challenge to Appellant’s aggregate sentence had actually been raised, it would have been meritless in light of

sentenced him as the result of any partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive. Instead, Appellant simply contends he believes the sentence imposed will not allow him to receive the rehabilitation he wishes to receive while further opining the time he has already served was sufficient to have fully satisfied the penological goals of retribution and deterrence in his case. Based on those claims, Appellant asks this Court to directly reduce his aggregate sentence on appeal in some unspecified manner in order to allow him to obtain treatment and rehabilitation through South Carolina’s sexually violent predator program.<sup>8</sup> Importantly though, the aggregate sentence imposed by the plea judge fell well within the permissible sentencing limits for Appellant’s numerous crimes.<sup>9</sup> Beyond that, nothing was presented during the circuit court

---

the exceedingly serious and harmful nature of Appellant’s many crimes. See State v. Johnson, 159 S.C. 165, \_\_\_, 156 S.E. 353, 354 (1930) (“Complaint is made . . . that the sentences of defendants are excessive and inhuman. [An appellate court] has no jurisdiction on appeal to correct a sentence alleged to be excessive, when it is within the limits prescribed by law. The length of the prison sentence rests in the sound discretion of the trial court unless partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive is shown.”); cf. Gibson v. State, 721 So. 2d 363, 364 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1998) (“Although a sentence of life with no possibility of parole—effectively imprisonment until death—must seem harsh from the perspective of this 23-year-old prisoner with no prior criminal record, [Gibson] was convicted of a serious offense[—committing a sexual battery upon a child—]for which this penalty is neither cruel nor unusual.”).

<sup>8</sup> Significantly, Appellant’s request for this Court to directly reduce his sentence instead of for this Court to reverse and remand would be inconsistent with the limited role of an appellate court reviewing a sentencing issue on appeal. See State v. Petty, 245 S.C. 40, 42, 138 S.E.2d 643, 645 (1964) (“In the case of an illegal sentence, the well settled practice in this jurisdiction is to affirm the conviction but set aside the sentence and remand the case to the trial court for the purpose of resentencing the defendant.”); see also United States v. Johnson, 934 F.3d 498, 502 (6th Cir. 2019) (“Reasoned judgments about the appropriate length of a sentence are largely for trial courts, not appellate courts.”); Reina-Rodriguez v. United States, 655 F.3d 1182, 1193 (9th Cir. 2011) (“Appellate courts are not sentencing courts.”); People v. Cox, 412 N.E.2d 541, 547 (Ill. 1980) (“We have consistently held that it is not our function to serve as a sentencing court, and we will not substitute our judgment for that of the trial court merely because we would have balanced the appropriate factors differently if the task of sentencing had been ours.”).

<sup>9</sup> Although Appellant’s aggregate sentence fell within the permissible sentencing limits for his vast number of crimes, Appellant was sentenced to concurrent ten-year terms of imprisonment for two of the counts of disseminating obscene material to a minor that stemmed from acts

proceedings suggesting the aggregate sentence was unconstitutional in any manner or resulted from any partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive. Under such circumstances, the plea judge did not abuse his discretion by sentencing Appellant to a total term of imprisonment that fell below the potential sentence Appellant was facing for just one of the many heinous crimes for which he was convicted, and there is no proper basis upon which the aggregate sentence imposed could legitimately be disturbed on appeal. Appellant's convictions and aggregate sentence should be affirmed.

In South Carolina, sentencing judges are vested with broad discretion to impose a sentence falling within the statutory limits upon an offender convicted of a crime. Sidell, 262 S.C. at 398, 205 S.E.2d at 3. In exercising that broad sentencing authority, the sentencing judge must be accorded "very wide" discretion to determine the appropriate sentence and can properly

---

committed in 2002 and 2003. (R. pp. 210-211; pp. 214-215; pp. 266-267). At the time those acts were committed, the maximum permissible sentence for disseminating obscene material to a minor was a five-year term of imprisonment, and, therefore, the concurrent ten-year sentences imposed for those particular offenses appear to have exceeded the permissible sentencing limits. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-345 (Supp. 2001) (authorizing—at that time—the imposition of a term of imprisonment of up to five years upon a person convicted of disseminating obscene material to a minor); see also Act No. 208, § 5, 2004 S.C. Acts & Joint Resolution (increasing the maximum penalty for disseminating obscene material to a minor under the age of eighteen to a ten-year term of imprisonment). Nonetheless, Appellant did not argue those specific concurrent sentences exceeded the permissible sentencing limits to the plea judge, and he has similarly not raised such a contention on appeal. (R. p. 130; pp. 135-142; p. 154; Supp. R. p. 1; App. Br. pp. 1-13). As a result, any issue regarding the propriety of those concurrent sentences was not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot appropriately be considered or addressed for the first time on appeal. See State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991) ("No objection to sentencing was raised at trial and this issue is not properly before the court."); State v. Walker, 252 S.C. 325, 327-328, 166 S.E.2d 209, 210 (1969) (declining to address Walker's appellate contention the sentence he received could not have properly been imposed "on the elementary ground that the question was not raised below"); State v. Salisbury, 330 S.C. 250, 276, 498 S.E.2d 655, 669 (Ct. App. 1998) (explaining a criminal defendant is required to contemporaneously object to an alleged sentencing error during trial in order to preserve an issue with a sentence for appellate review); see also State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 421, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) ("[T]he plain error rule does not apply in South Carolina state courts."); Taylor v. State, 258 S.C. 369, 375, 188 S.E.2d 850, 853 (1972) (holding a ground was waived because it was not argued on appeal).

consider “any and all information that reasonably might bear upon the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed.” State v. Hicks, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008). Furthermore, the sentencing judge is fully permitted to consider one or more of variety of legitimate penological justifications—including retribution, incapacitation, deterrence, and rehabilitation—in deciding what sentence is appropriate under the circumstances. See Jones v. United States, 463 U.S. 354, 368-369 (1983) (“A particular sentence of incarceration is chosen to reflect society’s view of the proper response to commission of a particular criminal offense, based on a variety of considerations such as retribution, deterrence, and rehabilitation.”); see also Ewing v. California, 538 U.S. 11, 25 (2003) (plurality opinion) (instructing “[a] sentence can have a variety of justifications, such as incapacitation, deterrence, retribution, or rehabilitation[,]” and explaining there is no constitutional mandate requiring adoption of any one penological theory). So long as the sentence imposed falls within the permissible sentencing limits for an offender’s crime, the sentencing judge’s decision regarding the appropriate sentence will not be found to be improper *unless* it violated the constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment or resulted from partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive. See Wood v. State, 257 S.C. 179, 182, 184 S.E.2d 702, 703 (1971) (“It is well settled in this State that this Court has no jurisdiction to disturb, because of alleged excessiveness, a sentence which is within the limits prescribed by statute unless: (a) the statute itself violates the constitutional injunction . . . against cruel and unusual punishment, or (b) the sentence is the result of partiality, prejudice or pressure or corrupt motive.”).

In the case sub judice, Appellant was convicted of *twenty-two* separate and distinct sexual offenses involving *twenty-two* separate and distinct juvenile victims. Amongst his offenses, Appellant was convicted of the “most serious” offense of first-degree criminal sexual conduct

with a minor, which—based on the applicable sentencing limits for that crime—meant the plea judge was *required* to sentence Appellant to a term of imprisonment of no less than twenty-five years up to life without parole for that conviction alone.<sup>10</sup> See S.C. Code Ann. 16-3-655(C)(1) (Supp. 2006) (mandating a person convicted of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor be sentenced to a term of imprisonment of no less than twenty-five years up to life without parole and instructing no part of the sentence may be suspended); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(C)(1) (Supp. 2019) (defining any degree of criminal sexual conduct with a minor as a “most serious” offense). Beyond that, Appellant was also convicted of seven counts of the “most serious” offense of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and those convictions collectively authorized the plea judge to sentence Appellant to up to an additional one-hundred-forty years of imprisonment. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(C)(2) (Supp. 2006) (mandating a person convicted of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor be imprisoned for up to twenty years); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(C)(1) (Supp. 2019) (identifying any degree of criminal sexual conduct with a minor as a “most serious” offense). Further still, Appellant was convicted of seven counts of lewd act upon a child, three counts of criminal solicitation of a minor, and four counts of disseminating obscene material to a minor, which—based on the applicable sentencing limits for those offenses—meant the plea judge had the discretionary authority to impose an additional one-hundred-sixty-five years of imprisonment upon Appellant.

---

<sup>10</sup> Regarding that particular offense, the solicitor provided the following details: “[T]hese incidents occurred on or about January 1<sup>st</sup>, 2007, to December 31<sup>st</sup>, 2008. The victim became acquainted with [Appellant] through another victim and began hosting the victim at his home in North Charleston, in Dorchester [C]ounty. Again, after a certain period of time, [Appellant] showed the victim pornography, encouraged the victim to masturbate in [Appellant]’s presence, manually masturbated the child and instigated some of the same tests of how long he could stay erect in a cold shower, gave him gifts -- specifically birthday presents -- in regard to sexual performance, performed oral sex on the child and, similarly had the victim lick peanut butter off his penis and had the victim perform oral sex on him. The victim was ten years old at the time.” (R. p. 43). Notably, Appellant confirmed all those details were accurate. (R. p. 45).

See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-140 (Supp. 2001) (authorizing the imposition of a term of imprisonment of up to fifteen years upon a person convicted of committing a lewd act upon a child); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-342 (Supp. 2004) (authorizing the imposition of a term of imprisonment of up to ten years upon a person convicted of criminal solicitation of a minor); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-345 (Supp. 2004) (authorizing the imposition of a term of imprisonment of up to ten years upon a person convicted of disseminating obscene material to a minor); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-345 (Supp. 2001) (authorizing—at that time—the imposition of a term of imprisonment of up to five years upon a person convicted of disseminating obscene material to a minor). Thus, in total, Appellant was facing a sentence of no less than a non-suspendible twenty-five-year term of imprisonment up to a sentence of life without parole *plus* an additional three-hundred-five years of imprisonment for his plethora of convictions. See State v. Barton, 325 S.C. 522, 531, 481 S.E.2d 439, 444 (Ct. App. 1997) (“[W]hether multiple sentences should run consecutively or concurrently is a matter left to the sound discretion of the trial judge.”).

Despite having the discretionary authority to sentence Appellant to life without parole along with a consecutive term of imprisonment of over three-hundred additional years, the plea judge—mercifully for Appellant—elected not to impose such a sentence. Instead, the plea judge imposed a much lower aggregate sentence that fell well within the permissible sentencing limits, and, in doing so, the plea judge did not say or do anything suggesting that sentence was imposed as the result of any improper motivations or considerations. See State v. Fleming, 228 S.C. 129, 133-134, 89 S.E.2d 104, 106 (1955) (“In this question, appellants complain of the sentence in that their accomplice received a sentence of 18 months while they received a sentence of 10 years. This Court has no jurisdiction on appeal to correct a sentence alleged to be excessive when it is within the limits prescribed by law in the discretion of the trial Judge and is not the

result of partiality, prejudice, oppressive or corrupt motive.”). Likewise, the aggregate sentence imposed, which amounted to a sixty-five-year term of imprisonment with fifteen of those years suspended to a probationary term, was in no way grossly disproportionate to Appellant’s appalling crimes, which involved repeated acts of sexual abuse perpetrated upon more than twenty children over the course of roughly a decade, and, therefore, did not violate the constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. See State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 56, 543 S.E.2d 541, 545 (2001) (“The cruel and unusual punishment clause requires the duration of a sentence not be grossly out of proportion with the severity of the crime.”); see also Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407, 435 (2008) (“Rape has a permanent psychological, emotional, and sometimes physical impact on the child. We cannot dismiss the years of long anguish that must be endured by the victim of child rape.”); cf. Adaway v. State, 902 So. 2d 746, 750 (Fla. 2005) (“We conclude that Adaway’s sentence of life imprisonment without parole is not grossly disproportionate to his crime of oral union with the vagina of a girl under the age of twelve. We reiterate that the length of the sentence actually imposed is generally said to be a matter of legislative prerogative. Although the penalty is harsh, we accept the Legislature’s judgment about the gravity of the crime.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)); State v. Gladding, 585 N.E.2d 838, 845 (Ohio Ct. App. 1990) (“[C]onsidering the heinousness of the crime of raping a nine-year-old child, it cannot be said that [Gladding]’s sentence was disproportionate or shocking to the moral sense of the community.”). Under such circumstances, the plea judge did not abuse his broad discretion or otherwise err when sentencing Appellant, and there is simply no proper basis upon which the plea judge’s discretionary sentencing decision could be disturbed on appeal. See State v. Bass, 242 S.C. 193, 197, 130 S.E.2d 481, 483-484 (1963) (“This Court has

no jurisdiction to correct a sentence alleged to be excessive when it is within the limits prescribed by law.”).

Apparently unsatisfied with the leniency extended to him by the plea judge, Appellant argues to the contrary and contends the plea judge somehow abused his discretion by imposing the aggregate sentence imposed. In support of that contention, Appellant accuses the plea judge of losing sight of the penological goal of rehabilitation by sentencing him to term of imprisonment that will prevent him from having any chance of release from incarceration until he is seventy-four years old. Then, conducting his own analysis of the penological goals of sentencing, Appellant offers his personal—and completely self-serving—opinion the penological goal of retribution has been sufficiently satisfied in his case by the approximately *eight* years of incarceration he has already served, posits that eight-year term of imprisonment will also serve as a sufficient deterrent for others involved in similar situations, and asserts he *must* be resentenced in order to permit him to receive the rehabilitation he “deserves” by being transferred into the sexually violent predator program, which involves civil—and non-punitive—commitment. See In re Treatment & Care of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 135, 568 S.E.2d 338, 344 (2002) (explaining the Sexually Violent Predator Act is “a civil, non-punitive scheme”); see also In re Care & Treatment of Matthews, 345 S.C. 638, 651-652, 550 S.E.2d 311, 317 (2001) (rejecting a contention the Sexually Violent Predator Act is punitive in nature and retributive). Thus, in essence, Appellant seeks to choose his own sentence for his terrible crimes, and the sentence he wishes to choose would perversely and incongruously require him to serve a total term of punishment *shorter than* the period of time he spent carrying out those crimes.

However, in raising his appellate challenge to his aggregate sentence, Appellant ignores the fact the plea judge—and not Appellant himself—was the one tasked with weighing the

various penological goals and deciding upon what sentence to impose based upon the circumstances involved. See Hill v. United States ex rel. Wampler, 298 U.S. 460, 464 (1936) (“The choice of pains and penalties, when choice is committed to the discretion of the court, is part of the judicial function.”); see also United States v. Batchelder, 442 U.S. 114, 125 (1979) (recognizing a criminal defendant has no right “to choose the penalty scheme under which he will be sentenced”). Similarly, in focusing heavily on his desire for rehabilitation, Appellant ignores the fact the plea judge was *not* required—constitutionally or otherwise—to ensure Appellant received the treatment Appellant wished to receive for purposes of rehabilitation and, instead, was fully permitted to focus on other penological goals—such as retribution, incapacitation, and deterrence—when choosing Appellant’s sentence.<sup>11</sup> See State v. Harrison, 402 S.C. 288, 309, 741 S.E.2d 727, 738 (2013) (“The Eighth Amendment does not mandate adoption of a national penological theory.”); see also Jones, 463 U.S. at 369 (“The State may punish a person convicted of a crime even if satisfied that he is unlikely to commit further crimes.”); Pennsylvania ex rel. Sullivan v. Ashe, 302 U.S. 51, 55 (1937) (“[A state] may inflict a deserved penalty merely to vindicate the law or to deter or to reform the offender or for all of these purposes.”); State v. Fletcher, 322 S.C. 256, 260, 471 S.E.2d 702, 704 (Ct. App. 1996)

---

<sup>11</sup> Significantly, the plea judge did, in fact, appear to primarily focus on the penological goals of retribution, incapacitation, and deterrence when imposing Appellant’s sentence. (R. pp. 128-129; pp. 149-154). However, due to the nature of Appellant’s crimes, the plea judge’s decision to do so was an exceedingly prudent and reasonable one. See Smith v. Doe, 538 U.S. 84, 103 (2003) (“The risk of recidivism posed by sex offenders is ‘frightening and high.’ ” (citation omitted)); McKune v. Lile, 536 U.S. 24, 32-33 (2002) (“Sex offenders are a serious threat in this Nation. . . . When convicted sex offenders reenter society, they are much more likely than any other type of offender to be rearrested for a new rape or sexual assault.”); Gibson, 721 So. 2d at 368-369 (“Child sexual predation is a serious concern. Even when it leaves no physical scars, it can create emotional damage that lasts a lifetime. There is evidence that victims of abuse become abusers and that this crime can transmit its injuries across generations. Because victims hesitate to report this crime and proof of the offense is often difficult to obtain, there is a risk that perpetrators will believe they can escape detection and punishment. As a result, there is a need for a harsh penalty to act as a sufficient deterrent.”).

(recognizing “punishment of the offender” is a proper motivation for a sentencing judge).

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